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E THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE 

Perhaps originally constructed as a hotel, the Haughton-McIver House is an 
unusual example of vernacular Greek Revival architecture highlighted by later 
Queen Anne additions. Located only a short distance from Gulf's business center, 
the original Greek Revival structure was associated with one of that small Chatham 
County community's most prosperous citizens, and it was later remodeled by an un­
known Greensboro architect in an elaborate Queen Anne motif about 1890. 

Dominated by pedimented gables and such characteristic Queen Anne features as 
slender grouped columns, heavy molded brackets, and various types of wooden shingles, 
an exuberant cwo-story porch enlivens the more sedate Greek Revival facade. This 
elaborate Victorian porch, unusual in rural Chatham County, imparts a fanciful 
appearance to the house and offsets the square proportions of its original Greek 
Revival design. The Victorian appearance is enhanced by the addition, on the 
eastern side of the house, of a three-sided projecting bay, which although Victorian 
::,n form, is accented by typically Greek Revival corner boards. 

Although the Queen Anne porch and bay overshadow other elements, the Haughton­
McIver House also features a number of typically Greek Revival exterior character-­
istics. Such features as symmetrically molded corner boards, large double-hung 
windows with six-over-six sash, and a low hipped roof identify the house's original 
design as Greek Revival. Elegant paneled double-leaf doors, encircled by transom 
and sidelights, which may have been defined by an original cwo-story portico, 
complete the structure's original vernacular Greek Revival facade. 

Late nineteenth century additions, creating a rear bedroom on the western side 
of the house and a dining room and kitchen on the eastern side, and the enclosure 
of the rear porch, are vernacular in character but are accentuated with Greek 
Revival corner boards which allow these later additions to blend harmoniously with 
the older section of the house, 

The interior of the house, only slightly affected by modern additions, continues 
the usual combination of Greek Revival and Queen Anne detailing. Plain door and 
window surrounds and solid corner blocks combined with narrow paneled doors provide 
evidence of the house's original interior woodwork. Heavy, vernacular Greek Revival 
mantels remain in the rear kitchen and second floor bedrooms, while the late 
nineteenth century remodeling is revealed by the existence of several Queen Anne 
mantels in first and second floor rooms. The rear (western) bedroom addition 
contains particularly exciting Victorian woodwork. Here, a period mantel, with 
slim colonettes and beaded shelf, molded door and window surrounds, bull's eye 
corner blocks and paneled wainscoting, characteristic of Queen Anne interior 
design, offset the heavy Greek decoration in other parts of the house. 
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Several interesting outbuildings are located directly behind the house, to the 

south. Two of these buildings continue the contrast of older, vernacular styling 
and later Victorian design which runs throughout the Haughton-McIver House. The 
original board and batten kitchen, now used as a garage and in a decaying conditioQ, 
stands beside an octagonal lattice-work kiosk, dating from the late nineteenth 
century, which covers the house's original well. Beside these structures stands 
a small weatherboard dairy and smokehouse with an appended rear shed. 
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The Haughton-McIver House may have been constructed originally as a hotel 
for travelers on the Cameron and Gulf Plank Road (a branch of the Fayetteville 
and Western Plank Road) and later on the Gulf and Graham Plank Road, which ran 
through the small Chatham County community of Gulf in the 1850s. It is also 
associated with the life of John M. McIver, one of nineteenth century Chatham 
County's most important business, civic, and church leaders. With its interesting 
combination of Greek Revival and Queen Anne exterior and interior design, the 
Haughton-McIver House remains one of the most significant structures built in 
Chatham County during the middle of the nineteenth century. 

CRITERIA ASSESSMENT 

A. Associated with the development of plank roads throughout central North Carolina 
during the period 1848-1860. 

B. Associated with the life of J.M. McIver, one of the most important and influential 
businessmen and civic leaders in Chatham County during the last quarter of the 
nineteenth century. 

C. Embodies the form and characteristics of vernacular Greek Revival and a more 
academic Queen Anne architecture. 



HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

The House was built some years to and 
served as a hotel for travelers on the Cameron and Gulf Plank Road and later on 
the Gulf and Graham Plank Road which was chartered in 1852. the last 

of the nineteenth century and first two decades of the twentieth century, 
it was occupied by J M. McIver, a wealthy and influential Chatham County business­
man. 

Although an exact date of construction for the house has not been determined, 
historical data indicates that it was built by 1853. The house and three acres of 
land were owned by Lawrence J. Haughton, an incorporator of the Gulf and Graham 
Plank Road 1, who sold it to John W. Hooker sometime prior to July, 1853. 2 Chatham 
County deeds reveal that in July, 1853, John W. Hooker was forced to sell the house 
to pay his debts3 and that it was repurchased by Haughton and a business associate. 4 

When the house was sold again in 1871 that deed refers to it as "the hotel. u5 
Lawrence J. Haughton and John W. Hooker were incorporators of the Gulf and Graham 
Plank Road. 6 Their association with the house supports McIver family tradition that 
the house was once used as a hotel for travelers on the Plank Road. 

Plank roads became popular in North Carolina during the late 1840s as North 
Carolina's legislature sought, If ••• a cheap means of transportation which would 
free her citizens from the bondage of primitive roads.,,7 These roads were built 
by private companies which charged tolls to farmers and other travelers who used 
them.' North Carolina's first plank road, the Fayetteville and Western, was 
chartered in 1848 and the pop~rity of this new mode of transportation increased 
so rapidly that by 1852 forty-eight other plank road companies were chartered in 
North Carolina, but only 500 miles of road were actually built.q Their original 
popularity did not last, however, and by the 1860s competition from the state's 
rapidly growing railroad system and high maintenance costs made most plank roads 
unprofitable to operate. to 

Although they clearly played an important role in the economic development of 
the state during the middle part of the nineteenth century by providing better 
access to major trading centers, plank roads also played a more subtle role in 
the social development of North Carolina's populace. People from different back­
grounds and different parts of the state were brought together during trips along 
the roads at toll houses and rest stops, such as the hotel in Gulf, to discuss news, 

Charlotte Observer, April 23, 1933, Section 3 p. 2. 
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The nominated property consists of seven acres upon which the house and outbuildings 
are located and which is described in Chatham County Deed Book 427, p. 868 and detailed 
on Chatham County Tax Map #9615. 
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politics, social customs and to meet new people. ll North Carolina plank roads and 
their hotels, toll houses, and rest stops became a conduit through which "Ideas 
flowed up and down. 0 .along with the goods for market. lilt 

Chatham County businessmen were quick to capitalize on the popularity of plank 
roads and the Gulf and Graham Plank Road was chartered on November 20, 1852. 13 Con­
struction on the road begain in January, 1853,14 and when completed it stretched 
for twenty-two miles through Chatham County, connecting Gulf and Smow Camp in 
Alamance County.lS Gulf was the western terminus of the Cameron and Gulf branch of 
the Fayetteville and Western Plank Rpad, which passed south of Gulf on its route 
between Fayetteville and Bethania. JU 

It is not known if the Haughton-McIver House continued to be used as a hotel 
after the decline of the plank roads' popularity in the early 1860s, but by 1871 it 
was still' owned by L.J. Haughton and referred to in. local deeds as "The Hotel."l? 
The house, however, was soon sold at public action because of a law suit brought 
by Haughton against the heirs of R.W. Palmer, co-owner of the house, It was bought 
by J.M. McIver, a former school teacher who had recently come to Gulf to embark upon 
a business career.~ 

McIver, born in Moore County,l~ came to the small community of Gulf about 1868 
and over the next fifty years became one of the most prosperous and respected 
businessmen in Chatham County. He was born in 1838 and educated in the Moore County 
school system and at Melville Academy in Alamance County. McIver entered the 
University of North Carolina in 1858 and graduated in 1862.~ Followi~g his graduation, 
McIver served in the Confederate Army from 1862-1865.2l~ During the period 1865-1810, 
McIver supported himself by teaching school in Moore, Bladen and Haywood counties. 2Z 

In 1871, McIver occupied the former hotel in Gulf and embarked upon a successful 
business career. There, he operated one of the largest general stores in Chat~m 
County and established Gulf Mills, the first modern roller mill in the county. 
McIver also served as a director of the Bank of Fayetteville and as a Vice Pres-
ident of the Sanford Cotton Mill. In addition, he owned large amounts of stock 
in such industries as the Columbia Manufacturing Company in Ramseur and the Elmira 
Cotton Mills located in Burlington. 24 

Chatham County Tax Lists from the last two decades of the nineteenth century 
show that John M. McIver was probably one of the wealthiest men in that county. In 
1880 at the age of forty-one, McIver owned 470 acres of farm land valued at $2,500, 
three lots in Gulf valued at $1,600, and Gulf Mills valued at $6,000. His total 
estate in 1880 was assessed at more than $20,000 in value. 2€ By 1892, the size of 
his farmland holdings were quite large when compared to the size of the average 
farm in North Carolina, which decreased during the period 1880-1900 from 142 
acres to 101 acres. 2' Combined with his flour mill and other property in Gulf, 
McIver's farm holdings brought the value of his estate altogether in 1892 to more 
that $32,000. 2 . 
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McIver was also a respected church leader and devoted family man. He helped 
establish the Gulf Presbyterian Church in 1882 and served as one of its elders, 
its session clerk, and as its representative to the Orange Presbytery.28 McIver 
married three times, first to Permelia Harris (1870), who died in childbirth, then 
to Mattie Lee Morrison and finally to Lois Anderson. McIver fathered six children 
by his second and third wives. 29 Following his third marriage, ca. 1890, McIver 
remodelled his house with the help of an unknown architect, who may have been 
from Greensboro. 30 This remodelling added Victorian highlights to the house's 
original Greek Revival design. 

John M. McIver died in 1923 and the house was occupied by his widow until 1928 
when it was occupied by one of McIver's sons, J.M. McIver, Jr., who served as 
Chatham County's accountant and tax supervisor. The house has been vacant since 
1978 and used only occassionally for family gatherings'. 
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